**RECEIVED**

**May 13 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., General Sessions Judge

---

Case No. 2022-000472

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Bowen Gray Turner,

Respondent,

In re: Victim C.B.,

Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Sarah A. Ford  
S.C. Victim Assistance Network  
P.O. Box 212863  
Columbia, SC 29221  
(803) 509-6550  
Attorney for Victim

Tamika D. Cannon  
S.C. Victim Assistance Network  
P.O. Box 170364  
Spartanburg, SC 29301  
(864) 312-6455  
Attorney for Victim

Terri Bailey

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

Whether Victim's constitutional rights to present and be heard at the Plea Hearing were violated when the court deemed the Rule to Show Cause, Motion to Enforce Victims' Rights and to be Heard Prior to Guilty Plea, and Petition for Writ of Mandamus as each being untimely filed.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2018, Respondent Bowen Turner was accused of sexual assault of a teenager at her home. They were both high school students and this accusation did not result in charges. On January 29, 2019, Turner was charged with Criminal Sexual Conduct - First Degree in the General Sessions Court in Bamberg County for sexually assaulting a second high school student, Victim D.S. Victim D.S. is now deceased. On June 2, 2019, while out on bond for the sexual assault against Victim D.S, Turner assaulted Victim C.B., his third victim, and was again charged with Criminal Sexual Conduct - First Degree.

On August 5, 2019, after several bond hearings, Respondent was released on what the court termed “strict house arrest” with an ankle monitor. Respondent was allowed to live at his grandmother’s house and was restricted against traveling from that location to his own home. The Court further instructed that Respondent could travel to a medical, legal or mental health appointment without any stops, and was prohibited from contacting anyone outside of his immediate family and from accessing the internet. The Order Granting Bond read in relevant part:

ANY AND ALL violations of the conditions of HOME DETENTION shall be reported to the Second Circuit Solicitor’s Office or the Orangeburg County Sheriff’s Office within 24 hours of the violation. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENT WILL SUBJECT THE ELECTRONIC MONITORING COMPANY TO POTENTIAL CRIMINAL AND CIVIL SANCTIONS FOR CONTEMPT OF COURT. (All caps portions are true to the Order and were not added for emphasis).

The State and defense agreed, outside of court, that Respondent should be allowed to leave his grandmother’s house on December 24th, and return the following day so he could spend Christmas with his immediate family. No hearing was held on that issue, and Victim was not given an opportunity to be heard on this bond modification.

Respondent's bond was again modified in March 2020, to allow him to reside with his parents over Victim's objections; all of the other conditions of bond remained in place. At the Victim's request, the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") obtained the GPS records generated by the ankle monitoring device for the previous three months. SLED determined that between November 2021, and February 2022, Respondent violated bond more than fifty (50) times. He made thirteen (13) visits to a golf course, six (6) to a golf center, and multiple visits to Sam's Club, Costco, Red Robin Restaurant, Hibbett Sports, Staples, an apartment complex and several other locations. This information was gathered on March 2, 2022, and the State filed a Motion to Revoke Bond against Respondent on March 25, 2022. A hearing was scheduled for April 8, 2022.

On April 4, 2022, just four days before the scheduled bond hearing, the Solicitor notified Victim C.B. that he planned to make a plea offer to reduced the original charge of criminal sexual conduct 1st degree to assault and battery. In response, on April 6, 2022, Victim filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus to require law enforcement or the Solicitor to enforce the bond order and arrest Respondent. In addition, Victim filed a Rule to Show Cause against the bond company for failing to report the violations. SLED filed a brief in opposition to Victim's Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

The hearing on the Motion to Revoke Bond was still scheduled for April 8, 2022. Despite being informed of an offer on April 4, no notice was given that the hearing would be converted into a change of plea, when egregious violations of bond were pending. Yet this is what occurred. Victims had been informed of the offer four days earlier, on April 4, but were never notified that the hearing to revoke bond was actually going to be a guilty plea. The hearing on

the Motion to Revoke Bond never took place and instead a guilty plea hearing was held. In response to the scheduled plea hearing, Victim filed and electronically served a formal Motion to Enforce Victims' Rights and to be Heard Prior to Guilty Plea the morning of April 8.

At the April 8 guilty plea hearing, the trial court denied Victim C.B.'s three motions, not on the merits, but on the basis that each was untimely filed and served in violation of "the four day rule". During the hearing, counsel for C.B. moved the court for a continuance in order to comply with the court's four day rule. The court denied this.

Victim C.B. seeks appellate review of the court's findings related to Victim's timeliness of filing and service of Victim's motions and her request to be allowed to present and be heard prior to the plea acceptance.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determination that a motion has not been properly filed as required by the “four-day rule” is a question of law which is reviewed de novo, without any particular deference to the circuit court. Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007).

The enforceability of rights granted by the South Carolina Constitution is a question of law which is reviewed de novo, without any particular deference to the circuit court. Jeter v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 369 S.C. 43, 438, 633 S.E.2d 143, 146 (2006) (holding interpretation of statute is a question of law).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED VICTIM C.B. PROCEDURAL JUSTICE WHEN IT REFUSED TO HEAR FROM HER BEFORE ACCEPTING THE GUILTY PLEA, IN VIOLATION OF HER CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO BE HEARD AND TO PRESENT.**

The South Carolina Constitution includes the Victims' Bill of Rights.<sup>1</sup> This important document sets out the rights accorded every victim in the justice system and is included in the Constitution to insure that the Victims' rights be protected "as diligently as those of the defendant." S.C. Code Ann 16-3-1550 (D). Despite this mandate, Victim C.B.'s constitutional rights have been consistently disregarded throughout this case. This appeal focuses on two of the procedural injustices she suffered: the right to be heard and to present at the guilty plea.

Victims have the right to "be informed of and present at any criminal proceedings which are dispositive of the charges where the defendant has the right to be present." S.C. Const. Art. I, § 24(A)(3). Despite this clear constitutional mandate, Victim CB. was not allowed to make any statement before the trial court accepted the guilty plea. Under South Carolina law, once a guilty plea has been accepted by the court, the parties are bound to it. Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (S.C. App. 1999). Although she was allowed to speak after the plea was

---

<sup>1</sup> The South Carolina Constitution Article 1, § 24(A) to preserve and protect victims' rights to justice and due process regardless of race, sex, age, religion, or economic status, victims of crime have the right to: 1) be treated with fairness, respect and dignity, and to be free from intimidation, harassment, or abuse, throughout the criminal and juvenile justice process, and informed of the victims' constitutional rights, provided by statute; 2) be reasonably informed when the accused or convict person is arrested, released from custody, or escaped; 3) be informed of and present at any criminal proceeding which are dispositive of the charges where the defendant has the right to be present; 4) be reasonably informed of and be allowed to submit a written or oral statement at all hearings affecting bond or bail 5) be heard at any proceeding involving a post-arrest release decision, a plea, or sentencing; 6) be reasonably protected from the accused or persons acting on his behalf throughout the criminal justice process; 7) confer with the prosecution, after the crime against the victim has been charged, before the trial or before any disposition and informed of the disposition; 8) have reasonable access after the conclusion of the criminal investigation to all documents relating to the crime against the victim before trial; 9) receive prompt and full restitution from the person or persons convicted of the criminal conduct that caused the victim's loss or injury, including both adult and juvenile offenders; 10) be informed of any proceeding when any post-conviction action is being considered, and be present at any post-conviction hearing involving a post-conviction release decision; 11) a reasonable disposition and prompt and final conclusion of the case; 12) have all rules governing criminal procedure and the admissibility of evidence in all criminal proceedings protect victims' rights and have these rules subject to amendment or repeal by the legislature to ensure protection of these rights.

accepted, the timing rendered her presentation a meaningless show: the plea had already been accepted and could not be changed. This process denies the Victim of any meaningful input and thereby circumvents the constitutional provision that she be allowed to “present.”

In South Carolina, the recommended plea becomes a “done deal” once it is accepted by the court. The trial court’s custom of delaying the victims’ statement until the sentencing phase of the plea denies the Victim procedural justice. If the Victim is not allowed to present until after the plea is accepted, the court is just going through the motions when it listens to the Victim’s Impact Statement and the Victim’s input, rendered after-the-fact, is reduced to a mere formality.

The S.C. Supreme Court’s decision in Ex parte Littlefield provides a roadmap for situations like this. Littlefield v. Williams, 343 S.C. 212, 540 S.E.2d 81 (2000). Littlefield explains the responsibilities of the prosecutor as well as the rights of the victims. While prosecutors retain broad discretion over whether “to pursue a case to trial, to plea bargain it down to a lesser offense, or they may simply decide not to prosecute the case in its entirety,” their discretion is constrained by many sources, including the Victims’ Bill of Rights. Prosecutors have certain duties to crime victims.

As Littlefield explains, under the Victims’ Bill of Rights, S.C. Const.art. I, § 24(C)(2), “a victim has the right to ‘be informed of and present at any criminal proceedings which are dispositive of the charges where the defendant has the right to be present’.” (Emphasis in original.) The Court in Littlefield held that once a criminal proceeding has concluded, it cannot be re-opened even when there has been a violation of victims’ rights. In Littlefield, the two petitioners lost substantial funds in financial dealings with the defendant, following the commission of white-collar crimes. The Solicitor’s Office determined that there was not probable cause to charge the defendant with any crime against petitioner Littlefield, but it proceeded with

charges relating to petitioner Jeter. Littlefield and Jeter both moved the court to set aside the guilty plea that was entered, arguing that they were not notified of the plea prior to the hearing and were denied the right to attend. The Court determined that a victim's rights to participate in the criminal process arise when the defendant is charged with a crime involving that victim. Since the defendant was not charged with any crime involving Littlefield, the prosecution was not his "concern" and Littlefield was not a "victim" in that case. In effect, neither the petitioner-victims nor defendants have the right to participate in cases that do not involve them. Similarly, once Jeter was notified that the indictment was dismissed due to inability to prosecute, he was not a victim in the subsequent proceedings and there was apparently no need for further communication with him. Littlefield at p. 221.

Victim C.B. was notified in advance of the pending plea offer; however, she was not notified of the final negotiated deal. Although she was given an opportunity to attend the guilty plea proceedings, she was not allowed to *present* until after the guilty plea was accepted. Once the court accepted the guilty plea, the deal was done and her subsequent presentation was meaningless.

Unlike the petitioners in Littlefield, Victim C.B. was the subject of the charged Criminal Sexual Conduct 1st Degree. The crimes against her were actively prosecuted and she was entitled to all protections under the Victims' Bill of Rights. When she was informed of the guilty plea hearing, she promptly filed a formal Motion to Enforce Victim's Rights and to Be Heard Before Guilty Plea. A hearing on the Solicitor's Motion to Revoke Bond had originally been scheduled for Friday, April 8, but it was never confirmed that it was to be recast as a guilty plea hearing. Appearing at the scheduled hearing, Victim's counsel moved the trial court to be heard on the motion prior to the announcement of the plea bargain. Transcript p. 6, lines 12-15. The

trial judge denied that motion as not properly served and without proper notice in violation of the 4-day rule. T. at p. 7, lines 2-4. Victim's counsel moved for a continuance, which was denied. Then the judge asked the Solicitor whether he wanted to continue the matter and was answered in the negative. T. at p. 7, lines 5-11. At that point he allowed the State to present the terms of the recommended plea and heard from the Defendant about his acceptance and understanding of the plea. It was clarified by the Solicitor that the plea was a recommendation, which could be accepted or rejected by the court. T. at p. 8, lines 21-25; T. at p. 9, lines 1-2. The judge accepted the plea. T. at p. T. at p.16, line 10.

After the plea was formally accepted, the Court allowed Victim's counsel and father to address the court regarding the plea. Victim's counsel expressed Victim's objection to the plea bargain. T. at p. 18, lines 13-15. Victim's father read a Victim's Impact Statement and then the father of Defendant's second alleged sexual assault victim read an impact statement. After hearing from counsel and the families, the Court modified the plea offer to extend probation from two to five years.

Victim C.B., in this instance, moved to protect her rights while the Victims' Bill of Rights were still applicable, as compared to the appellants in Littlefield, who were non-victims seeking to enforce rights after the guilty plea had already been entered. Victim C.B., unlike the Littlefield petitioners, is not seeking to re-open the guilty plea, but is seeking a finding that the court should have heard from Victim prior to ruling on the guilty plea and should not have proceeded to sentencing at the guilty plea hearing, because doing so deprived Victim of an opportunity to be heard and to present regarding the plea and its acceptance and for those comments to be afforded due consideration.

### **A. Victim Had A Right to Present At The Plea Hearing**

As noted above, the Victims Bill of Rights specifies that “victims of crime have the right to . . . be informed of and present at any criminal proceedings which are dispositive of the charges where the defendant has the right to be present.” S.C. Const.art. I, § 24(C)(2).

It is undisputed that as the defendant in a criminal action, Respondent Turner and his counsel had the right to present throughout the proceedings on April 8; they presented their position before the plea was accepted and again during the sentencing stage. Prior to the hearing, Victim C.B. filed a motion that she be allowed the same opportunity to present before the plea was accepted. This was denied as not timely, as was her request for a continuance in light of the 4-day rule. T. at p. 6, lines 12-24; T. at p. 7, lines 2-10. By this ruling, the trial court denied Victim C.B. the right to make a meaningful presentation before the sentencing.

The Trial Court apparently construed the word “present” to be an adjective, as in describing a particular location, such as “a doctor must be present at the ringside”. Google’s English Dictionary, provided by Oxford Languages. Similar adjectives include near, close, and at hand. However, in this context, “present” is not an adjective; it is actually a transitive verb, meaning “to lay (something such as a charge) before a court as an object of inquiry.” Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (1999) . Or, as Black’s Law puts it: “. . . To find or represent judicially; used of the official act of a grand jury when they take notice of a crime or offense from their own knowledge or observation, without any bill of indictment before them.” Present, Black’s Law Dictionary, (10th ed. 2014).

Under the first canon of construction, the plain meaning rule, words are given the plain meaning in the statutory text. Anderson v. S.C. Election Comm’n, 397 S.C.551,556, 725 S.E.2d 704, 707 (2012). Another canon is the presumption that every word in a statute or law has

meaning. Under this canon, every word and every provision is to be given effect. 16 Jade Street, LLC v. R. Design Const. Co., LLC, 398 S.C. 338, 728 S.E.2d 448 (2012). Applying these two canons of construction, the word “be” is intentionally included in S.C. Const.art. I, § 24(A)(2), which reads a victim has a right to ... “be reasonably informed when the accused is arrested, released from custody or escapes”. By contrast, the verb “to be” is omitted from the next paragraph, that the victim has a right to “be informed of and present at any criminal proceeding.” This absence of “be” in the second clause is important because it provides a different meaning to the paragraph. As written, the statute bestows the right for victims to be noticed of and to make presentations at the criminal proceedings. In contrast, if the phrase read a victim has a right to be informed of and “to be present”, the meaning would then be that a victim merely has the right to attend the proceeding as does the general public.

This interpretation of the word “present” as a verb is consistent with other sections of the Victims’ Bill of Rights. Specifically, S.C. Const.art. I, §24(A)(10) uses the word “present” in the sense of “appearing” in parallel construction with the infinitive “to be”when it” specifies that victims have a right to ”be informed” and “be present,” as follows: the victim’s right to “(10) be informed of any proceeding when any post-conviction action is being considered, and be present at any post-conviction hearing involving a post-conviction release decision.” The public at large has a right to attend criminal hearings, which are open proceedings, so there would be no need to include in the Constitution that victims have a right that is available to all.

Allowing the Victim C.B. the constitutional “right to present” is fully compatible with the Court of Appeals ruling in Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (S.C. App. 1999), that the victim does not have the right to veto a proposed plea agreement. While recognizing the solicitor’s unfettered discretion in arriving at a plea agreement and presenting it to the trial court

as either a recommended or negotiated plea, the victim still has the constitutional right to present her point of view before the plea is accepted. Denial of the opportunity to speak to the court before the plea is accepted is a violation of the victim's constitutional right to present.

### **B. Obtaining A Writ Was Impossible Under These Circumstances**

Littlefield concludes with an exposition as to the proper enforcement of victims' rights in the trial courts. The Victims' Bill of Rights does not establish a civil cause of action: these rights are properly presented in a writ of mandamus to the circuit judge or any justice in the Supreme Court. S.C. Const.art. I, § 24(B)

A victim may seek a writ of mandamus to enforce compliance with the Victims' Bill of Rights. However, considering the short amount of notice that is usually given to victims before a plea hearing is held, it is not practical or possible for a victim to obtain a writ of mandamus prior to the hearing. Also, a victim can not seek a writ of mandamus before the plea hearing because the issue of a victim being heard is not ripe until it is actually denied. A writ of mandamus was not a practical option in this case because the court accepted the plea minutes after denying Victim's motion to be heard. There was no time for the Victim to present a writ to the Supreme Court under these circumstances.

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