STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
Mar 13 2023
SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

V.

Bowen Gray Turner,

Respondent,

In Re: Victim C.B.,

Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000472

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR
RESPONDENT BOWEN GRAY TURNER

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

ARGUMENT

1.

The victim has failed to show any right to appeal the result of respondent's guilty plea after the solicitor agreed to the terms of that guilty plea, the circuit court accepted the guilty plea, and imposed sentence upon respondent since there is no constitutional, statutory, or appellate court rule which provides a victim a right to such an appeal

Relevant facts

At the beginning of the guilty plea proceeding, counsel Sarah Ford said she was the attorney for the victim. She told the judge that she had filed a Motion to Enforce Victim's Rights and to be Heard prior to the plea and she had also filed a Writ of Mandamus and a Rule to Show Cause against the bail bond company. R. 200, ll. 3-12.

Counsel Ford admitted she "handed copies of these documents" to the guilty plea judge on the morning of the plea. R. 200, ll. 17-24. Ford confirmed she was not representing the state of South Carolina, and that she filed her motions as the victim's attorney and not as a "victim's advocate." R. 201, ll. 13-17. The judge stated that he would hear from the victims in this case, as he had done in every guilty plea proceeding during his twenty-eight years on the bench. R. 201, ll. 18-23.

The solicitor then confirmed to the judge that the State of South Carolina wanted to resolve this case with the guilty plea, and the judge again said he would hear from the victims and the arguments of the victims at the proper time. R. 203, l. 19- 204, l. 3. The judge did note, however, that the motions filed on the behalf of the victims on the morning of the guilty plea proceeding were not timely filed. R. 204, ll. 4-24.

Counsel Ford then asked the judge to continue the case until the victim could seemingly properly file their motions. R. 205, ll. 5-7. The solicitor told the judge that the state did not want to continue the case, and that the state wanted this case resolved. R. 205, ll. 8-11.

Solicitor Miller then stated that respondent was going to waive presentment to the grand jury on the charge of assault and battery in the first degree and that there was a recommended sentence. The judge and solicitor agreed that the sentencing sheet had been changed to indicate the guilty plea involved a “recommendation” by the state rather than a “negotiated sentence.” R. 206, l. 14 - 207, l. 7; R. 243. The judge said that he would either accept or reject the recommended sentence. R. 207, l. 8 - 208, l. 1. See R. 243.

The solicitor then told the judge:

“As far as the recommendation, the recommendation from the State is that the Defendant be sentenced under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed six years, suspended to time served of 55 days and probation for five years. The Defendant will be placed on the sex offender probation supervision and is required to complete sex offender counseling as directed by the South Carolina Department of Probation Parole and Pardon Services.

Sex offender registration will be held in abeyance. If the Defendant successfully completes all the probation requirements, he would not be required to register as a sex offender. If the defendant violates the terms of the probation and does not have a sentence activated, a further hearing would be held to be determined whether he has to register.

Additional conditions of probation will include no direct, indirect, or third party contact with any of the victims’ families in this case. Mr. Hutto is well aware of who those victims’ families are. *And this probation would terminate upon completion of the sex offender counseling or two years, whichever is later.*”

R. 211, l. 23 – 212, l. 25

Counsel Ford then said that “the families” disagreed with the court moving forward with the case. Counsel Ford added that she understood the state was fully in charge “[a]nd can allow

someone to go from criminal sexual conduct first to an assault and battery first, plead that, and can make a recommendation of probation.” R. 216, ll. 13-20. The judge stated that he would hear from the victim’s families during the guilty plea proceeding. Counsel Ford then interjected that it was the victim’s opinion that probation was not a proper sentence in this case. R. 216, l. 24- 217, l. 14.

The judge agreed to hear from Karl Stoller, whose daughter Counsel Ford said “[w]as the victim in the Bamberg case and she tragically passed away in November, Your Honor.” R. 217, ll. 6-13. Mr. Stoller then told the court about a case where his daughter was brought home from a party heavily intoxicated and was ultimately found to have been sexually assaulted. R. 217, l. 23- 223, l. 17.

The judge also heard from the Reverend Doctor William Darren Bess on behalf of another alleged victim. Rev. Bess told the judge he did not believe justice was being served in this case. R. 223, l. 19 – 227, l. 10.

Ford then told the court that she wanted permanent restraining orders “for the three victims.” The judge agreed to sign those restraining orders. R. 227, l. 11- 228, l. 5. The judge offered that he realized the frustration being shared publicly that day in the courtroom and he added: “[T]hank you for your advocacy and I appreciate that and I mean that sincerely too, Ms. Ford. Thank you.” R. 228, l. 6- 230, l. 15.

The judge then briefly heard from defense counsel Hutto. R. 230, l. 16 – 231, l. 5. Respondent told the judge he did not have anything additional to tell him. R. 231, ll. 3-5. The following then occurred, as the judge altered and increased the recommended sentence:

“All right. What I’m going to do – I believe you said after two years [probation] was a recommendation?”

Mr. Miller: Yes, Your Honor.

The Court: I understand that. Because of a lot of things, but given the accusations and the number of them and *I understand he was 16. I'm not going to accept that part of it.*

Mr. Miller: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

The Court: And I understand you wanted to know that, Mr. Hutto. I understand – I understand the negotiation. I do think the YOA sentence is appropriate for many reasons. Because one, because of what I said about the adult sentence and that doesn't help him. But the YOA, if he has activated, it would at least help him rehabilitate maybe. So that's my rational [sic] for accepting the YOA sentence. So I'm going to sentence him in the Department of Corrections under the Youthful Offender Act for an indeterminate period not to exceed six years. However, I'm going to suspend that and I'm going to place you on probation for five years. Now, listen closely. Sex offender – the sex offender conditions of probation shall apply for all five years. *So that's – and they're – they're some of the toughest, but they also are -- I think they also provide some rehabilitation counseling that would be helpful to you to – I know you've probably done some, I hope you have, but – that will reinforce what you have already experienced. No contact with the victim.* Of course, I'm going to sign that Order as well. It would not only would violate the probation, but it will violate the Order which provides for a penalty in and of itself. I believe that's the Order you're talking about?

Ms. Ford: Yes, sir. Asking for three Permanent Restraining Orders.

The Court: Okay. Sir, you understand that?

Mr. Turner: Yes, sir.

The Court: I'm going to allow the probation, if he has completed five years without any violation and done all of the counseling necessary, then he will not have to register as a sex offender. So – that may not shorten probation. That's the other thing. That's five years instead of the other. So he's got this over your hear for five years.

Mr. Tuner: Yes, Sir.”

R. 231, l. 6 – 233, l. 9.

As stated, the victim filed a notice of appeal, which the Attorney General moved to dismiss on behalf of the state, and respondent joined in that motion. R. 196. This Court denied the motion to dismiss with leave for respondents to continue to argue that this appeal was improper since there was no provision in the law which allowed for it.

Discussion

There is no constitutional right to appeal even on behalf of a criminal defendant. The right to appeal is authorized by statutes and the appellate court rules of procedure in this state. State v. Rearick, 417 S.C. 391, 398-99, 790 S.E.2d 192, 196 (2016). The United States Supreme Court in McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687 (1894) held, “An appeal from a judgment of conviction is not a matter of absolute right, independently of constitutional or statutory provisions allowing such appeal.”

As the Attorney General in this case correctly stated in its brief of respondent: “A victim does not have a right to appeal . . . [and] once the plea was accepted and [Bowen] Turner was sentenced, the plea was final, and this Court cannot reopen the plea to provide Victim the relief she seeks. Accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed.” Brief of Respondent, State of South Carolina at 4.

This Court in Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 681, 511 S.E.2d 396, 399 (Ct. App. 1999), explained that a victim possesses no rights in the appellate process, and a victim has no standing to appeal a trial court’s order:

A victim, as defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-1510 (Supp.1997), possesses **no rights in the appellate process**. Nothing in our Constitution or statutes provides the “victim” standing to appeal the trial court’s order. Additionally, the rights granted by the South Carolina Constitution and statutes are enforceable by a writ of mandamus, rather than direct participation at the trial level.

(emphasis added).

As our Supreme Court stated in Ex parte Littlefield, 343 S.C. 212, 218-19, 540

S.E.2d 81, 84 (2000):

[T]he Victims' Bill of Rights is not a drastic transformation of the criminal justice system whereby the victim is given control over the solicitor's broad discretion. The criminal justice system gives prosecutors, as opposed to victims, broad discretion in deciding which cases to try because prosecutors are less likely to be prejudiced by personal and emotional motives. The South Carolina Constitution and case law place the unfettered discretion to prosecute solely in the prosecutor's hands. "*Prosecutors may pursue a case to trial, or they may plea bargain it down to a lesser offense or they may simply decide not to prosecute the offense in its entirety.*" State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 291-92, 440 S.E.2d 341, 346 (1994). Furthermore, the Court of Appeals held that while prosecutors have some duties to crime victims, "*their prosecutorial discretion is not contracted or limited by victims' rights laws.*" Reed, 333 S.C. at 676, 511 S.E.2d at 400.

(emphasis added).

The criminal justice system in our state is already overloaded, and solicitors and defense attorneys make difficult trial or guilty plea decisions every day after solicitors consult with victims and defense attorneys consult with their clients, and at times, their families about what is the best possible resolution to their case under the circumstances. Respectfully, our system would completely break down if victims were given a veto power -- including a right to appeal or intervene in an appeal -- any time a prosecutor agrees to allow a defendant to plead guilty rather than go to trial.

The Attorney General offers that the victim could have sought a writ of mandamus from a justice of the South Carolina Supreme Court who could order that the circuit court judge comply with Article I, Section 24(A) of the South Carolina Constitution. However, as the Attorney General's Office wrote -- "Instead, Victim sought a motion to Enforce Victims' Rights and to be Heard prior to Guilty Plea from the circuit court. (Motion to Enforce). Even if

construed as a petition for writ of mandamus, the order was sought from the same judge they were seeking to mandate to act in accordance with the Victim's Bill of Rights. As a result, Victim did not seek the appropriate relief contemplated by the Victims' Bill of Rights." See Brief of Respondent State of South Carolina at 5-6.

The victim's appeal in this case should be dismissed because there is no constitutional provision or statute or appellate court rule which allows for it, and the victim does not have standing to challenge the propriety of the solicitor's discretionary plea decision which the circuit court judge accepted in this case.

2.

The victim, even if such a right to appeal existed, cannot show any prejudice in this case since the allegations of the various victims were allowed to be heard at the guilty plea proceeding, and the court actually increased respondent's sentence after hearing from them which would make reversal completely unwarranted.

Relevant facts

As seen above, the solicitor told the judge that respondent's probation would be terminated after two years or after completion of sex offender counseling according to the agreement. "This probation would terminate upon completion of the sex offender counseling or two years, whichever is later." R. 211, l. 23 – 212, l. 25.

However, after hearing from Counsel Ford for the victim, the judge heard at length from Karl Stroller whose daughter "was the victim in the Bamberg case and she tragically passed away in November," R. 217, l. 19 – 223, l. 17, and then from Reverend Doctor William Darren Bess who complained at length that "justice will not be served here today." R. 223, l. 19 – 227, l. 9.

Counsel Ford then demanded a permanent restraining order "for the three victims" that the judge said he would sign. R. 227, l. 11 – 230, l. 19. Defense Counsel Hutto then briefly reminded the judge that respondent was only fifteen or sixteen years old when the complained of incidents took place. R. 230, l. 20 – 231, l. 2.

As also seen, the judge then altered and increased his sentence mandating five years of probation, and not the two years of probation if respondent's sex offender counseling was successfully completed as earlier agreed upon:

I understand the negotiation. I do think the YOA sentence is appropriate for many reasons. Because one, because of what I

said about the adult sentence and that doesn't help him. But the YOA, if he has activated, it would at least help him rehabilitate maybe. So that's my rational [sic] for accepting the YOA sentence. So I'm going to sentence him in the Department of Corrections under the Youthful Offender Act for an indeterminate period not to exceed six years. However, I'm going to suspend that and I'm going to place you on probation for five years. Now, listen closely. Sex offender – the sex offender conditions of probation shall apply for all five years. *So that's -- and they're -- they're some of the toughest, but they also are -- I think they also provide some rehabilitation counseling that would be helpful to you to -- I know you've probably done some, I hope you have, but -- that will reinforce what you have already experienced. No contact with the victim. Of course, I'm going to sign that Order as well.* It would not only would violate the probation, but it will violate the Order which provides for a penalty in and of itself.

R. 231, l. 16 – 232, l. 17. (emphasis added).

Discussion

The guilty plea judge did not commit a legal error in this case, so there is not any legal issue upon which this Court could reverse the trial judge. However, even if the judge did somehow err, reversal would be improper since appellant suffered no prejudice. The trial judge, as seen above, actually increased respondent's term of probation from two years to five years after hearing from the victim's representatives.

Error without prejudice does not warrant reversal. State v. Huggins, 336 S.C. 200, 204, 519 S.E.2d 574, 576 (1999) *citing* State v. McWee, 322 S.C. 387, 472 S.E.2d 235 (1996). See, also, State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 365, 535 S.E.2d 420, 427 (2000). The judge agreed to hear from the victims in this case, he granted the restraining order requested by Counsel Ford, and he increased respondent's sentence after hearing from the family representative in those other cases. There was simply no prejudice to the alleged victim in this case even if she had

standing to challenge this discretionary plea agreement or recommendation that the solicitor and respondent agreed upon, and which the trial judge accepted, and modified against respondent.

Further, the trial judge would have been well within his discretion if he had refused to hear and consider the other bad acts allegations against respondent that the victims urged that he consider since they did not result in a conviction. Instead, he heard from these family representatives at length, and he increased respondent's sentence at the conclusion of the guilty plea proceeding.

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